RECEIVED

Sep 19 2024

SC Court of Appeals

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM HORRY COUNTY
Honorable J. Mark Hayes, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2023-000571

THE STATE,..... APPELLANT,

v.

ANIJAH YARNELL,..... RESPONDENT.

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

DONALD J. ZELENKA
Deputy Attorney General

MELODY J. BROWN
Senior Assistant Deputy Attorney General

JULIANNA E. BATTENFIELD
Assistant Attorney General
S.C. Bar No. 103135

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211-1549
(803) 734-6305

JIMMY A. RICHARDSON, II
Solicitor, Fifteenth Judicial Circuit

1301 Second Avenue
Conway, South Carolina 29526
(843) 915-5460

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This case examines the importance of private property, relational boundaries, and an invited guest's right to eject a trespasser from that property in immunity rulings under the Protections of Persons and Property Act ("PPPA"). Respondent Anijah Yarnell was indicted in June of 2021 by an Horry County Grand Jury for the murder of Michael Pennington and possession of a weapon during the commission of a violent crime. (2021-GS-26-02687 and -2688). The case was prosecuted by Violent Crimes Assistant Solicitor Nancy Livesay and Assistant Solicitor Christopher Helms. R. 1. Yarnell, represented by M. O'Bryan Martin, Esq. and L. Morgan Martin, Esq., then filed a motion for immunity under the PPPA, S.C. Code § 16-11-410, *et. seq.*, on November 7, 2022, and the State filed a reply shortly after. A full, three-day immunity hearing with 15 witnesses and approximately 76 exhibits was held before the Honorable Mark J. Hayes from November 14th to 16th, 2022, and Judge Hayes issued his order granting immunity from prosecution to Yarnell on April 4, 2023. R. 547. The State timely filed its notice of appeal on April 10, 2023, and this Brief of Appellant now follows.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

On May 14, 2020, Remington Hargrove (“Remi”) was in Surfside Beach in Horry County visiting her family who were in town from New York. R. 64, R. 75-76. She and Anijah Yarnell (6’0”, 180 pounds) had lived together at an apartment at Winchester Circle in Myrtle Beach, but the two were arguing that day and eventually ended up breaking up. Remi then made it clear she did not want to see him or talk to him. R. 1-25, R. 311-312; State’s Exhibit 51 at R. 579, R. 581 (text messages between Yarnell and his friend Michelle); Defense Exhibit’s 46 # R. 611 (text messages between Remi and Yarnell). Remi sent her last message to him in the middle of the afternoon, and then her messages stopped. *Id.* Yarnell, on the other hand, proceeded to call her over 200 times from *67 and with a spoofing app to disguise his phone number. R. 286, R. 382-384. He also sent texts where he threatened to destroy photos of her deceased father. R. 382; Defense Exhibit 46 – R. 587 (text messages between Remi and Yarnell).

Yarnell texted his friend Michelle at 5:51 PM, “Hey you better tell Remi to come get her shit before I throw it all out.” State’s Exhibit 51 at R. 573. He then said, “I guess she forgot I was the wrong one to fuck with I haven’t ate all day because of them.” *Id.* at R. 575. Then, from 6:30 PM to 7:39 PM, Yarnell texted his friend Missy about the situation, and he again threatened to destroy Remi’s belongings if she did not come get them immediately. State’s Exhibit 19, R. 562. Missy texted back at 7:27 PM, “Michelle says please don’t throw anything out, we will come tomorrow and get it if you want it gone.” Yarnell replied, “It’s out now, tell Remi to respond to see if she wants it if she says no it’s gone.” State’s Exhibit 19 at R. 565. He then texted at 7:34 PM, “Okay she said she doesn’t care so it’s gone sorry for bothering y’all.” *Id.*

Around 8:30 or 9:00 PM, Yarnell decided to drive to the Cross Gate Villas Apartment Complex anyway—it was a part of the larger Maddington Place collection of condos. R. 206, R. 384, R. 473-480; State’s Exhibit 54 (map of complex); State’s Exhibit 55 (Private Property

sign). Maddington Place was a private property that was not open to the public; owners needed a sticker on their car to park anywhere, and guests needed tags from the owners. If a car did not have a sticker or tag, Quality Towing would tow it.² R. 469-471. An individual could only come onto the property if they were an owner or an invited guest of an owner, because the HOA wanted to “protect the owners and keep out the bad guys.” R. 479, R. 482-483. If a person was not invited, they would be declared a trespasser. R. 480, R. 483.

Jennifer Tassone (Remi and Emily’s aunt), Jennifer’s boyfriend Darrin Card, Remi, Emily Cerio, and Emily’s boyfriend Michael Pennington (“victim”) were at dinner at Handley’s Pub in Carolina Forest in the early evening. R. 78, R. 92-93, R. 268-269, R. 273. Remi was very upset about Yarnell at dinner, and made it known that she was afraid of him. R. 78. Darrin said, “I know that she was telling her aunts and her cousins just how bad things were and how violent he was.” “[S]he talked of violence and abuse and very controlling behavior.” R. 77, R. 78. Everyone at dinner knew that Remi had turned her phone off that day to avoid talking to Yarnell, as he had been harassing, messaging, texting, and calling her so much that she couldn’t use her phone; any time she went to use it, a call from him would prevent her from accessing its functions. R. 271, R. 291. Remi then told Darrin Card she did not want Yarnell near her and wanted him and Michael Pennington to help make sure Yarnell did not come over because she was afraid of what he might do. R. 86. Emily also asked her boyfriend (the victim) to come and make sure they were safe. R. 93

Darrin and Jennifer rode back to Maddington Place in a separate car from Remi and Emily. R. 64. Remi and Emily stopped at a Speedway Gas Station, and Emily called

² FedEx trucks, mailmen, etc. were allowed on the property as invited guests for the limited purpose of delivering packages the owners had invited them to deliver. R. 484.

Pennington, who was in a third car, and told him, “She’s scared, she’s scared, she’s pregnant.” R. 272-275. Remi was 7 months pregnant at the time. R. 293. A few minutes later, Remi and Emily pulled into the complex and saw Yarnell in his car in the parking lot, and Remi again said she was scared. State’s Exhibit 49 at R. 567. They called Pennington and told him this, and he told them to meet him at Murphy’s Gas Station. R. 272-275. After they met up, Emily called her Aunt Jennifer and told her what was going on. Everyone agreed they would not go back to the complex without Pennington there, because Remi and Emily weren’t equipped to deal with an angry man. R. 293, R. 301-302; State’s Exhibit 4, R. 566, (Statement of Emily Cerio.)³

Remi then briefly talked to Yarnell on the phone. R. 272-274, R. 301-302. Remi told him she did not want to go home with him or see him; she asked him to leave her stuff at the complex and go home. R. 274-275, R. 293-294, R. 301-302. “[L]eave it and go . . . I’ll get it you need to go home. I don’t want to see you.” State’s 49, R. 566 (Statement of Emily Cerio).

About 15 minutes later, at approximately 9:30 PM, Darrin saw Pennington arrive in a second car, and then he saw Emily and Remi pull into the complex in the third car. R. 271, R. 293. He also saw Yarnell pull out of the complex and watched as Yarnell saw Emily and Remy pulling in and decide to turn around and drive up next to them. The three of them then had a brief conversation. R. 68, 81, 271, 275. Remi was terrified, shaking, and scared. R. 292, 302. Remi once again told Yarnell to leave because she didn’t want to see him. R. 277, R. 281. He yelled at her aggressively and accused her of blocking him in, and she said they weren’t blocking him. R. 279, R. 294-295. Yarnell drove off, and the two girls went upstairs right away after Emily

³ Pennington was a guest invited over for the purpose of protecting Remi and Emily from Yarnell. R. 87-88, R. 287. Darrin and Jennifer lived in the complex, and Emily’s brother and father also lived there; Emily had a key. R. 287-289.

told Pennington again that Remi was scared. R. 69, R. 82, R. 292-293. Remi said, “What if he has a weapon?” State’s Exhibit 49, R. 566.

Pennington, Jennifer, and Darrin had a conversation in the parking lot while this was going on. R. 279-280, R. 297. Jennifer had just gotten into her van to take a phone call and Emily was coming back down to get her phone charger when Yarnell wheeled back into the complex and pulled right up next to Pennington. R. 83-84, R. 98-99, R. 281, R. 297-298. He had fully turned out onto Deerfield Lakes Drive and had to turn around to come back in. R. 206, R. 210, R. 231; R. 249; Defense Exhibit 32 (aerial photo of apartment complex). Pennington was not acting aggressively when he walked up to Yarnell’s driver’s side window and said, “Hey, why don’t you just go home, you’re not welcome at this time.”⁴ R. 72, R. 281, R. 284- 285, R. 310. “No one wants you here, go home.” *Id.* Yarnell refused to leave. R. 83, R. 289.⁵

He had partially pulled into a parking space but had not turned off his car; his doors were locked, the driver’s-side window was mostly rolled up,⁶ and he was moving his car slowly while he was talking to Pennington. R. 86-88, R. 304-306.⁷ No one blocked his car at any point. R. 87-88, R. 249.

⁴ Pennington’s blood showed traces of substances, but the defense’s toxicologist testified Pennington was not actively under the influence of any of the substances when he was shot, and Judge Hayes did not take the victim’s toxicology report into consideration in making his ruling. R. 124; 558, FN 1. Judge Hayes ruled, “Nothing suggested Petitioner was afraid because he knew Pennington was on something.”

⁵ It was debatable whether Yarnell was invited in the first place, but he was certainly not invited back after he fully left the complex after Remi told him to leave. R. 80-82, R. 85-86, R. 289.

⁶ There were many differing opinions as to how far the window was down, so the forensic evidence showing how far it could have actually been down will be discussed shortly. R. 70, 73.

⁷ Yarnell was on the phone with Melissa Cannon at the time, who testified she heard Pennington say: “Get the f*** out of the car . . . I’m going to beat your a**, get out of the car.” R. 41. “I’m going to f*** you up.” Darrin Card and Emily Cerio did not hear Pennington say this. R. 72, R. 281-282. Melissa also said, “[I]t was loud and belligerent, and it scared me.” R. 44

Pennington also said, “Hey, what’s your problem?” R. 91. After Yarnell continued to refuse to leave, Pennington said, “You know what, why don’t you just get out of the car?” “Come on, let’s go, come on tough guy.” R. 84. Yarnell replied, “Am I supposed to be scared of that?” several times. R. 41, R. 43, R. 46. Pennington did not threaten Yarnell with a weapon and did not put his hands on the car until the gun came out. R. 87, R. 299.

Yarnell then fully stopped his car (yet left it running), pulled his Glock 17 up, and Pennington said, “You have a gun,” looking shocked. R. 84, R. 257. Pennington then moved to the side and tried to reach for the gun or hit it to push it out of the way through the window crack. R. 282-284, R. 299-300, R. 304-306. He then said, “I’m from Virginia and if you pull a gun you better pull the trigger.” R. 281. Yarnell then cocked the gun. State’s 49, R. 566. Emily was standing close to Pennington, and she testified Pennington was trying to protect her and the others from the gun Yarnell had. R. 282-284. Pennington tried to pull on the door handle, but the door was locked. R. 45, R. 70-72, R. 283-285, R. 300. Yarnell then pulled the trigger and shot him. R. 73-74. The round went through the window, and Yarnell drove off, leaving Pennington dying in the parking lot. Yarnell never called 911. State’s Exhibit 23 (photograph of the window); State’s Exhibit 36 (photograph of where Pennington landed in the parking lot); Defense Exhibit 16 (another photograph of the parking lot).

5’11” Pennington was not touching the car and he was at least 10-12 inches from the gun when Yarnell fired. R. 85, R. 174. Pennington was unarmed – and there was no stippling found under his arms, so his arms could not have been up and in the window at the moment he was shot. R. 219. He was bent over when the bullet entered his chest in a downward direction. State’s Exhibit 33 (autopsy photo showing bullet wound); Defense Exhibit 15 (autopsy photo showing the bullet’s trajectory). Pennington’s DNA was not found on the gun. R. 260-261, R.

266. Yarnell lied later and said Pennington had taken off his belt and wrapped it around his hand and was hitting him with it like it was a gang thing, but no other witness testified to that, and the photos of Pennington showed he still had his belt on. R. 56, R. 242-249; State's Exhibit 32 (photograph of the contents of Pennington's pockets). Yarnell also testified that Pennington had punched him through the window. R. 339.

Detective Jonathan Kelly went to Yarnell's apartment around 11 PM that night to talk to him about what had occurred. R. 158-159. Detective Kelly said the window on Yarnell's was slightly bowed outward like it had been pushed out but there was no other damage to the car. R. 162, R. 164. He also testified the bullet hole was about 6 inches down from the top of the window, meaning the window was likely only cracked 2-3 inches (as it shows below) to a maximum of 6-8.5 inches down if the bullet had been fired into the very bottom of the window. R. 163, R. 167, R. 241-242; State's Exhibits 23, 25; Defense Exhibits 14, 20, and 43 (showing the window and then showing the length of Yarnell's car). Below is Defense Exhibit 43:



The detective testified Yarnell did not have injuries on his hands or any part of his body, and neither did his car. R. 163. SLED dusted for prints, and only one of Pennington's left-handed fingerprints was found on the paint below the middle part of the window. R. 180-185, R. 193-198. SLED's latent prints expert testified Pennington could have just as easily put his hand on the bottom part of the window when he initially went up to talk to Yarnell. R. 198.

Pennington's prints were not found on the front side or back side of the window. *Id.* Neither his DNA nor his fingerprints were found on the door handle of Yarnell's Hyundai. R. 263. Yarnell was also examined at the Horry County Detention Center later that night, and it was reported that he was not bleeding and had received no medical treatment. No part of his body showed injury, except what looked like a cold sore on his bottom lip. R. 256, R. 320-325, R. 353-354; State's Exhibits 38 to 44 and 47 (photographs of Yarnell's face and body); State's Exhibits 45-46 (photographs of the tops and bottoms of Yarnell's hands).

Emmet Leonard Hall, who had thirty-years of experience installing auto glass, testified that regulators (which are down inside car doors) attach to vehicle windows and are what are responsible for making the windows go up and down on their tracks. He testified the regulator in State's Exhibit 23 (Yarnell's Hyundai) was not on the track, so the regulator would not have pushed the window up or down; the glass would have fully shattered if someone had tried to raise or lower it. R. 488-490, R. 493-494. He testified that the window was therefore inoperable after the bullet went through it and was only being held together by window tint. R. 490-494.

Anijah Yarnell never made any real attempts to drop off Remi's clothes that night, and never told anyone he was scared of Pennington. R. 46, R. 310-311.

MOTION FOR IMMUNITY:

In his written motion for immunity, Yarnell claimed he was entitled to it under Section (A)(1) and (2) of the PPA, because the victim had been attempting to enter Yarnell's occupied vehicle when Yarnell shot him. R. 540, 542. He claimed he was without fault in bringing on the difficulty, was in reasonable fear of death or serious bodily injury and was lawfully parked in the apartment complex not engaging in illegal activity at the time. R. 542-543. He argued that the fact the victim was unarmed was only one factor in the entire determination, that he was entitled to Section A's presumption of reasonable fear, and that he had the right to act on appearances, even if his belief was ultimately mistaken. R. 542-543.

REPLY:

In the State's written reply, the State argued Yarnell was only telling half of the story. R. 544. "The statute does not allow unfettered immunity nor any kind of presumption to a person in every circumstance as long as the person is in their ... occupied vehicle." *Id.* Instead, the State maintained Yarnell lost his presumption of reasonable fear under Section B because Yarnell was engaged in unlawful activity with his vehicle at the time he shot the victim. *Id.* Yarnell had been threatening his ex-girlfriend Remi via text and phone calls (over two hundred) all day without a response from her, so he got into his vehicle with a loaded weapon and drove to a private drive, uninvited, and laid in wait for Remi for forty-five minutes. R. 545.

Remi got back to the complex and immediately went upstairs, so Yarnell left. R. 545. However, he turned around and re-entered the complex, so the victim, an invited guest, asked Yarnell to leave, but Yarnell refused again. After words were exchanged, Yarnell shot the unarmed victim as he was sitting in his locked vehicle with the motor on and the windows up. R. 545. The State argued Yarnell was not entitled to immunity because he was a trespasser who was engaged in unlawful activity in a place he had no right to be and had no reasonable fear of death.

R. 546. Pennington had no way to actually enter the vehicle: he was unarmed, the space between Yarnell's car and the other parked car was very small, the vehicle was locked, the window was barely cracked, and Pennington had no tool by which to break the glass.

IMMUNITY HEARING:

The immunity hearing was conducted over the three full days of November 14-16, 2022.

R. 1. After multiple pre-hearing motions to exclude various pieces of evidence, Judge Hayes ruled the text messages between Yarnell and Remi were admissible to show Yarnell's state of mind. R. 24-27. The State argued:

- Yarnell committed unlawful use of a telephone by calling 200 times;
- He trespassed on private property and was stalking Remi;
- The above was the res gestae of the crime, and Yarnell did not have to be officially charged with the above crimes for his criminal actions to matter in the immunity determination;
- There were no cracks in the window or dents or damage to the car; and
- Yarnell had no injury on him at all – no brackets on his braces were broken.

R. 443-450.

The defense argued a person's car is his castle, so essentially strict liability should be applied to Section A regardless of whether a person actually had a real ability to enter the vehicle.

R. 444. They argued the parking lot was like a Wal-Mart parking lot that invited the public in, and that the parking lot was like the hotel lobby in *State v. Williams*, 280 S.C. 305, 312 S.E.2d 555 (1984). They argued that the Supreme Court in *State v. Glenn*, 429 S.C. 108, 838 S.E.2d 491 (2019), made the place the person was when they engaged in self-defense not matter. R. 434-455, R. 513. They also argued Yarnell was not a trespasser, and that if he did not have a right to be there, neither did Pennington, Darrin Card, Emily Cerio, or Jennifer Tassone.

R. 455. They continued by arguing no one had the right to invite or disinvite Yarnell, and the fact he was not invited was not important. R. 456-457.

They also argued that *State v. McCarty*, 437 S.C. 355, 878 S.E.2d 902 (2022), and *State v. Scott*, 424 S.C. 463, 819 S.E.2d 116 (2018), ruled the fact the victim was unarmed was only one factor in the totality test of immunity, and that the case facts were like *State v. Leaks*, 114 S.C. 257, 10 S.E. 549 (1920),⁸ (where both the victim and defendant were engaged in illegal gambling), and again reiterated that Yarnell was entitled to the protection of Section A of the PPPA for the sole reason that he was in his occupied vehicle. R. 456, R. 500, R. 503. They argued his phone calls should not be considered because he was not using his vehicle to make the calls. R. 457. They then argued in the alternative that Yarnell was entitled to the protection of Section C, and that Pennington had brought on the difficulty. R. 459-460.

The State countered by stating there was no evidence Maddington Place was open to the public, and that it was the defense's burden to prove it was. R. 462-463. They stated Wal-Mart parking lots did not have "No Trespassing" signs, and one did not need a sticker or tag to park in the parking lot, day or night, so the complex parking lot was in no way like a public Wal-Mart parking lot. R. 462-463. They concluded by arguing Yarnell's case was different than *State v. Leaks* because gambling was an intervening factor that broke the causal chain of proximate cause, but here, the trespass nature of Yarnell's actions led directly to the shooting. R. 531-532.

The defense finished by arguing again that the fact the victim was unarmed was only one factor a judge had to consider in making an immunity determination, and that Yarnell had the right to act on appearances; that threatening words and aggressive actions were enough for him to fire in self-defense. R. 501.

⁸ The transcript says, "State versus Lee," but there is no such case. R. 457.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

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