RECEIVED

Sep 10 2024

SC Court of Appeals

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Horry County

Honorable J. Mark Hayes, Circuit Court Judge

THE STATE,

APPELLANT,

V.

ANIJAH YARNELL,

RESPONDENT

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2023-000571

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ROBERT M. DUDEK
Chief Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR RESPONDENT

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

Arguments of Counsel

Defense counsel Martin noted that the Protection of Persons and Property Act protected people, such as respondent, who were attacked in an “occupied vehicle.” R. 500, ll. 4-17. Counsel noted the standard of proof was by a “preponderance of the evidence.” R. 500, ll. 17-25. Counsel also argued that there being conflicting evidence did not mean that the judge could simply send the case to the jury. R. 500, l. 25 – 501, l. 11. Further, the fact that respondent was ultimately found not to be armed was not dispositive. R. 501, ll. 15-22.

Defense counsel cited State v. Glenn, 429 S.C. 108, 838 S.E.2d 491 (2019) and State v. Cervantes-Pavon, 426 S.C. 442, 827 S.E.2d 564 (2019) as support for these legal principles. Further, it is also clear respondent had the right to act on appearances even if his ultimate belief was mistaken. Under the law of self-defense “you do not have to wait for your adversary to get the drop on you, that’s the caselaw, and thirdly, that threatening words accompanied by aggressive actions are a sufficient basis for one to act in self-defense.” R. 501, ll. 15-22.

Counsel also argued respondent was in his own car -- which was a place where he had a right to be -- and while in that occupied car the presumption of reasonable fear of imminent peril applied when respondent was attacked, and the decedent entered or tried to enter his car. R. 502, l. 1 – 503, l. 17. Defense counsel noted that respondent was in his car, he drove into the parking lot, he did not get out of his car, he rolled his window down, and the decedent told him to “get the fuck out of the car, I’m going to fuck you up.” R. 503, l. 8 – 504, l. 4.

The decedent was the aggressor, and respondent was not at fault for bringing on the difficulty given the evidence in this case. Further, the decedent was under the influence of alcohol, likely cocaine, marijuana, and Xanax, given the testimony. This was further evidence of respondent’s fear that evening, and why he believed he was in imminent peril. There was “no

excuse” for the decedent attacking respondent while respondent was inside of his own car. R. 504, l. 11 – 508, l. 8.

Counsel said it would be absurd to assert that respondent, while in his own car in the parking lot of a condominium building complex, could not defend himself when he was attacked inside his own car. That was not a result the legislature intended. R. 508, l. 3 – 510, l. 23. Counsel said that immunity needed to be granted unless the judge accepted the proposition that by simply driving in his car to the Villas parking lot respondent was at fault for bringing on the difficulty. R. 510, l. 14 – 513, l. 22.

The solicitor argued that the decedent was acting in defense of Remi Hargrove. R. 521, l. 13 – 522, l. 6. The solicitor said that the decedent was invited to go to the condominiums, and she maintained respondent was never invited to the condominiums, and that he was told to leave. R. 522, ll. 6-11. The solicitor asserted that respondent should be considered the aggressor. R. 525, ll. 4-17.

The solicitor admitted the decedent’s arm went inside respondent’s vehicle but she questioned “when?” R. 525, l. 16 – 526, l. 15. The solicitor contended that respondent was the aggressor, and respondent did not have a right to be on the property that night. R. 530, ll. 9-20.

Defense counsel countered that the evidence showed respondent did not even know the decedent was there that night when he went over. Counsel continued that although the solicitor claimed the decedent was acting in self-defense of Remi Hargrove, Remi was upstairs in her apartment, and she did not need anyone defending her. R. 532, l. 5 – 533, l. 11. Further, the scientific evidence showed that the decedent was only ten to twelve inches from the gun when he was shot. The decedent attacked respondent while respondent was inside his own “occupied vehicle.” Respondent had no malice towards the decedent. Respondent’s girlfriend Remi had

even offered respondent gas money to come to the condominiums that night, and respondent had a right to defend himself from this unwarranted attack. R. 534, l. 9 – 537, l. 18.

After the arguments by counsel, the judge took the matter under advisement. The judge said he would go through the record thoroughly and issue an order for the appellate courts to review. The judge noted he had gotten reversed before because he did not give a proper and thorough immunity analysis.² R. 537, l. 19 – 538, l. 17.

Order Granting Immunity

A written order granting respondent immunity dated April 4, 2023, was issued. R. 547 – 561. In his order granting immunity, the judge wrote “when [respondent] drove his vehicle into the common area of the parking lot to drop off Remi’s belongings, he was not trespassing. Remi had consented to [respondent] bringing her belongings to the complex. Even though he did not have a hanging tag, he was not in violation of Maddington Places rules. A vehicle on the property for the purpose of making a delivery of goods does not violate its posted rules. This Court cannot conclude that [respondent] was engaged in an unlawful act at the time of the altercation or attempting to commit an unlawful act. Thus, 16-11-440(B)(1)(Pennington had no right to be in [respondent’s] vehicle) and (B)(3)([respondent] was not using his vehicle for an unlawful purpose) do not disqualify [respondent] from immunity. Nevertheless, based on the facts presented to this Court, much like the McCarty case, even if [respondent] were to be considered trespassing when in a common area of the parking lot, his being in his vehicle was not the proximate cause of the attack against him. Order at 6-7. R. 552 – 553.

² While it is generally improper to cite an unpublished opinion, the trial judge was apparently referring to State v. Lunsford, 2021-UP-197 (Filed June 9, 2021), which was likely fresh in the judge’s mind at the time of this November 14-16, 2022 immunity hearing, and the issuance of his April 4, 2023 order granting respondent immunity.

The order further noted that respondent came to the condominium to give Remi her clothes and “stuff” back. The decedent put his beer down in the parking lot and screamed “get the fuck out of the car so I can fuck you up.” Order at 11. R. 557.

The Court found that respondent was a credible witness, and respondent’s testimony was that the decedent was belligerent and aggressive. Cocaine was found in the decedent’s possession, and the toxicology report revealed that Xanax and marijuana were in his blood stream. Order at 11. R. 557.

Further, the judge found that the decedent started the altercation in the parking common area of Maddington Place. Order at 12. R. 558. Respondent merely coming to Maddington Place where he was in the common area of the parking lot “to deliver Remi her belongings,” this was not an unlawful act. Respondent had been “to the complex before and Remi had provided her consent for [respondent] to be there.” “Based on the totality of information presented during the hearing, this Court cannot conclude that [respondent] had a premeditated motive to do serious bodily harm or death to Remi.” Order at 13, n. 22. R. 559.

Respondent was not at fault for bringing on the attack and respondent did not provoke the decedent’s attack on him while respondent was inside of his own car. Order at 14. R. 560.

The order continued:

Based on the above, this Court's finding(s) and conclusion(s) are, the [Respondent]³ has met his burden of proof of establishing by a preponderance of the evidence the defense of self-defense. [Respondent] had done nothing to Pennington to provoke Pennington's attack on him while [Respondent] was in his vehicle. [Respondent] was not at fault in bringing on the attack. The facts are such that this Court is convinced that [Respondent] believed he was in imminent danger of losing his life or sustaining serious

³ The judge in his order referred to Respondent Yarnell as “petitioner” since he was the moving party. For ease of reference, he is referred to herein as “respondent” which is his present legal status on appeal.

bodily injury and that he was actually in such imminent danger during the physical attack on him by Pennington. [Respondent's] fear and belief of imminent danger was real and a reasonable prudent man of ordinary firmness and courage would have come to the same belief. Also, circumstance of the attack placed the [Respondent] in actual imminent danger and these circumstances were such that would warrant a man of ordinary prudence, firmness and courage to strike the fatal blow in order to save himself from serious bodily harm or losing his own life.

Additionally, for purposes of Section 16-11-440(A), the [Respondent] is entitled to be presumed to have a reasonable fear of imminent peril of death or great bodily injury when he used deadly force because the person against whom he used deadly force was in the process of unlawfully and forcefully entering [Respondent's] occupied vehicle and, the person had attempted to remove [Respondent] from his occupied vehicle. The requirements of 16-11-440(A)(1) have been established. Also, [Respondent] has established by a preponderance of evidence that he was aware that an unlawful and forcible entry or unlawful and forcible act was occurring or had occurred at the time deadly force was used. Thus, the requirements of 16-11-440(A)(2) have been proven.

Also, this Court finds by a preponderance of the evidence that Section 16-11-440(B)(1) does not disqualify [Respondent] from immunity because Pennington had no right to be in or to lawfully occupy [Respondent's] vehicle. This Court also finds the [Respondent] was not engaging in an unlawful activity nor was he using the occupied vehicle to further an unlawful activity. See, 16-11-440(B)(3).

Therefore, having established his entitlement to immunity by a preponderance of the evidence, this Court finds the [Respondent] is immune from prosecution of the present charges in accordance with S.C. Code Section 16-11-450.

Order at 14-15. R. 560 – 561.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

“A claim of immunity under the Act requires a pretrial determination using a preponderance of the evidence standard, which this court reviews under an abuse of discretion standard of review.” State v. Jones, 416 S.C. 283, 290, 786 S.E.2d 132, 136 (2016), *citing* State v. Curry, 406 S.C. 364, 370, 752 S.E.2d 263, 266 (2013); State v. Duncan, 392 S.C. 404, 411, 709 S.E.2d 662, 665 (2011) (recognizing that the proper standard for the circuit court to use in determining immunity under the Act is a preponderance of the evidence). An abuse of discretion occurs when the trial court's ruling is based on an error of law or, when grounded in factual conclusions, is without evidentiary support. State v. Jones, 416 S.C. 283, 290, 786 S.E.2d 132, 136 (2016) *citing* State v. Pittman, 373 S.C. 527, 647 S.E.2d 144 (2007).

ARGUMENT

1.

The trial court did not abuse its discretion by finding respondent was without fault in bringing on the difficulty. Respondent having another disagreement or argument with his girlfriend, who was not the decedent, did not bring on the difficulty. The aggressive threatening decedent reaching into respondent's occupied automobile and punching him brought on the difficulty.

Our Supreme Court has held that the defense must show, by preponderance of the evidence, that the defendant has a valid claim of self-defense, and that the circuit court judge must consider all of the elements of self-defense – except the duty to retreat. State v. McCarty, 437 S.C. 355, 368, 878 S.E.2d 902, 910 (2022) *citing* State v. Curry, 406 S.C. 364, 371, 752 S.E.2d 263, 266 (2013).

The Supreme Court noted the elements of self-defense are:

First, the defendant must be without fault in bringing on the difficulty.

Second, the defendant must have actually believed he was in imminent danger of losing his life or sustaining serious bodily injury, or he actually was in such imminent danger.

Third, if his defense is based upon his belief of imminent danger, a reasonably prudent man of ordinary firmness and courage would have entertained the same belief. If the defendant actually was in imminent danger, the circumstances were such as would warrant a man of ordinary prudence, firmness and courage to strike the fatal blow in order to save himself from serious bodily harm or losing his own life.

Fourth, the defendant had no other probable means of avoiding the danger of losing his own life or sustaining serious bodily injury than to act as he did in this particular instance. Curry, 406 S.C. at 371 n.4, 752 S.E.2d at 266 n.4 (quoting State v. Davis, 282 S.C. 45, 46, 317 S.E.2d 452, 453 (1984)). We

reiterated, however, that “[i]t is the fourth element—the duty to retreat—that is excused under the Act and the Castle Doctrine.” *Id.*

In its well-reasoned order granting immunity, the judge here correctly found respondent did not bring on the difficulty in this case. He was returning his girlfriend’s clothing and “stuff” to her at the Maddington Place. Respondent had planned on having dinner that night with Remi, but her friends being in town changed Remi’s plans. While there was evidence respondent was not happy about their dinner plans being changed, respondent, who the judge found “credible” readily admitted that he and Remi had had many disagreements or arguments in the past. This one was nothing unusual in the larger scheme of events.

Respondent simply drove onto the property at Maddington Place to give Remi her property back. He was not doing anything illegal, and he was inside his own vehicle which belonged to him. The decedent had no property or other interest in respondent’s vehicle. The decedent started the difficulties by putting his beer down, threatening respondent, and punching respondent while respondent was inside of his own car.

Melissa Canon heard much of what transpired because she was on the telephone with respondent at the time he was attacked. She heard a noise like somebody had run up to respondent’s car and that person said: “Get the fuck out of the car, N, I’m going to beat your ass.” It sounded like this person was trying to get inside respondent’s vehicle. R. 41 - 42. This person, the decedent, was angry, belligerent and aggressive. R. 43 - 44. He said “get the fuck out, I’m going to fuck you up” more than once and simultaneous with the sound of the decedent trying to get inside of respondent’s car. R. 45.

The evidence showed the respondent carried his gun inside the center console of his car. Respondent often went to the shooting range with this gun.

The judge correctly reasoned respondent did not bring on the difficulty where the decedent reached into respondent's car and punched him. It appeared the threatening, belligerent, and aggressive decedent was attempting to continue to punch respondent and open his car door. Respondent reasonably was in fear of great bodily harm or death under these circumstances. While the state notes that the decedent was eventually determined to be "unarmed," respondent had the right to act on appearances, even if his belief was ultimately shown to be mistaken. State v. Dickey, 394 S.C. 491, 501, 716 S.E.2d 97, 102 (2011) *citing* State v. Fuller, 297 S.C. 440, 443-44, 377 S.E.2d 328, 331 (1989). The judge did not abuse his discretion by finding respondent did not bring on the difficulty in this case.

2.

The trial court did not abuse its discretion in finding respondent was in actual danger of great bodily injury or death where the decedent was threatening respondent, where the decedent attacked respondent, threatening him and punching him through the car window where respondent also had the right to act on appearances.

The Court correctly found the evidence in this case showed the decedent was threatening respondent, and the decedent punched respondent through the opened or partially opened window on respondent's occupied vehicle. The judge also noted the toxicology evidence that the decedent was found with cocaine in his pocket, and the decedent had cocaine, Xanax, and marijuana in his system. The decedent was also correctly found to be threatening, belligerent and aggressive.

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